

[View the video of the entire meeting](#)

**THE CORPORATION OF THE DISTRICT OF WEST VANCOUVER  
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  
MUNICIPAL HALL COUNCIL CHAMBER  
JULY 8, 2019**

---

**COUNCIL:**

Acting Mayor S. Thompson; Councillors C. Cameron, N. Gambioli, P. Lambur, W. Soprovich, and M. Wong. Absent: Mayor M. Booth.

**STAFF:**

N. Leemhuis, Chief Administrative Officer; M. Panneton, Director, Legislative Services/ Corporate Officer; J. Bailey, Director, Planning & Development Services; D. Powers, Director, Community Relations & Communications; P. Cuk, Manager, Legislative Operations/Deputy Corporate Officer; M. McGuire, Manager, Current Planning & Urban Design; S. Mikicich, Manager, Economic Development; and A. Shchedrinskiy, Financial Controller.

**CALL TO ORDER**

1. The meeting was called to order at 6:54 p.m.

**APPROVAL OF AGENDA**

2. **Approval of July 8, 2019, Regular Council Meeting Agenda**

MOVED by Gambioli, seconded by Wong:

THAT the July 8, 2019, regular Council meeting agenda be amended by:

- considering Item 8 regarding Neighbourhood Character Working Group Progress Report immediately prior to Item 4 regarding Proposed Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 5025, 2019;

AND THAT the agenda be approved as amended.

**CARRIED**

**ADOPTION OF MINUTES**

3. **Adoption of Council Meeting Minutes**

No items.

## **REPORTS**

### **8. Neighbourhood Character Working Group Progress Report** (File: 0117-20-NCWG)

Staff and T. Dodd (Chair, Neighbourhood Character Working Group) provided a presentation and responded to Council's questions. Council members commented.

L. Jones (address not provided) queried regarding the Neighbourhood Character Working Group's work in relation to the Five Creeks Stormwater Flood Protection Project. Staff provided a response.

Councillor Gambioli left the meeting at 7:35 p.m. and returned to the meeting at 7:38 p.m.

P. Delesalle (2200 block, Inglewood Avenue) commented regarding: defining a neighbourhood's character; communication regarding rezoning applications; and housing needs.

MOVED by Lambur, seconded by Cameron:

THAT the report dated June 17, 2019, titled Neighbourhood Character Working Group Progress Report be received for information.

CARRIED

### **4. Proposed Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 5025, 2019** (File: 1610-20-5025)

Councillor Wong left the meeting at 7:40 p.m. and returned to the meeting at 7:42 p.m.

Staff spoke relative to the subject bylaw and responded to Council's questions.

J. Cave (West Vancouver) spoke relative to the proposed bylaw and commented regarding fee increases and taxes.

MOVED by Gambioli, seconded by Wong:

THAT proposed "Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 5025, 2019" be read a first, second and third time.

CARRIED

### **5. Update on Economic Development Plan Implementation** (File: 2580-10)

Staff provided a presentation and responded to Council's questions.

Councillor Wong left the meeting at 8:25 p.m. and returned to the meeting at 8:27 p.m.

A. Tunner (West Vancouver) spoke relative to the subject report and commented regarding: attracting tourists and businesses; regional economic development plans, studies, and organizations; and branding; and referred to a written submission.

E. McHarg (Vice-Chair, West Vancouver Chamber of Commerce) spoke relative to the subject report and commented regarding the mutual goal of creating a vibrant commercial and business sector in West Vancouver.

L. Jones (address not provided) spoke relative to the subject report and commented regarding: targeting West Vancouver residents and businesses when local projects are put out to tender; and hiring youth to maintain creeks and riparian zones.

J. Cave (1361 Marine Drive) spoke relative to the subject report and commented regarding: redevelopment and redesign of commercial buildings along Marine Drive; the Harmony Arts Festival; and attracting tourists to West Vancouver.

MOVED by Soprovich, seconded by Gambioli:

THAT

1. staff advance proposed refinements to the District's economic development role including:
  - better integration of municipal economic objectives within other District functions and services;
  - formalizing working partnerships with external agencies – to better align mutual objectives, optimize resources, and facilitate project opportunities;
  - developing an operational budget for municipal economic development; and
  - developing draft terms of reference for a proposed West Vancouver Business Council for further consideration by Council; and
2. staff provide regular updates to Council on the status of the Economic Development Plan on a quarterly or as-needed basis.

Councillor Cameron left the meeting at 8:41 p.m. and returned to the meeting at 8:42 p.m.

Council members commented and staff provided information regarding opportunities for economic development. The question was called on the motion.

CARRIED

**6. Street Naming Request: King Georges Court (File: 2500-01)**

Staff and K. Jarrar (461 Southborough Drive) provided a presentation, referred to a letter from a neighbour in support of the street naming request, and responded to Council's questions.

MOVED by Wong, seconded by Soprovich:

THAT the existing lane off of King Georges Way be named King Georges Court.

CARRIED

## 7. Preventing Heritage Demolitions (File: 2585-01)

Councillor Soprovich left the meeting at 8:50 p.m. and returned to the meeting at 8:53 p.m.

Staff provided a presentation and responded to Council's questions.

M. Telenius (address not provided) referred to a letter from P. Miller (President, North Shore Heritage Preservation Society) in support of the subject report and recommendations.

T. Wardell (Former Chair, Previous Heritage Advisory Committee) spoke relative to the subject report and commented regarding: different types of heritage; incentives for preserving and celebrating heritage; building codes; and preventing the demolition of heritage homes.

J. Mawson (2607 Nelson Avenue; and Member, Heritage Advisory Committee) spoke relative to the subject report and commented regarding: preventing the demolition of heritage structures; different types of heritage; education and awareness of heritage; environmental protection; and infill housing.

MOVED by Cameron, seconded by Wong:

THAT the report titled Preventing Heritage Demolitions, outlining a framework for preventing the demolition of heritage buildings and resources and promoting heritage education and outreach in West Vancouver, be received for information.

Council members commented. The question was called on the motion.

CARRIED

MOVED by Cameron, seconded by Soprovich:

THAT the Community Heritage Register be updated to add all nominated heritage resources identified on West Vancouver's heritage inventories.

CARRIED

MOVED by Cameron, seconded by Lambur:

THAT funding for a full time equivalent (FTE) heritage planner position to implement and manage the proposed heritage framework including the review and processing of heritage proposals be referred to the 2020-2024 Five-Year Financial Plan Process for consideration.

A Council member commented. The question was called on the motion.

CARRIED

**9. 555 13th Street – Proposed Emergency Generator Replacement**  
(File: 1010-20-19-030)

MOVED by Soprovich, seconded by Wong:

THAT

1. Notice of consideration required under Development Procedures Bylaw No. 4940, 2017 for proposed Development Permit 19-030 regarding 555 13th Street be waived; and
2. Proposed Development Permit 19-030 regarding 555 13th Street, to allow for the installation of a replacement emergency generator as described in the report dated June 18, 2019, regarding Emergency Generator – 555 13th Street – Proposed Emergency Generator, be considered at the July 8, 2019, regular Council meeting.

CARRIED

Reports received up to and including July 8, 2019:

REPORT TITLE	REPORT DATED	RECEIVED AT COUNCIL MEETING	#
Emergency Generator – 555 13th Street – Proposed Emergency Generator	June 18, 2019	July 8, 2019	R-1

Written Submissions received up to and including July 8, 2019:

SUBMISSION AUTHOR	SUBMISSION DATED	#
None.		

Staff responded to Council's questions.

Acting Mayor Thompson queried if there was anyone who wished to speak and there was no response.

MOVED by Soprovich, seconded by Cameron:

THAT all written and oral submissions regarding proposed Development Permit 19-030 regarding 555 13th Street, up to and including the Council meeting held on July 8, 2019, be received for information.

CARRIED

MOVED by Soprovich, seconded by Gambioli:

THAT proposed Development Permit 19-030 regarding 555 13th Street, which would allow for the installation of a replacement emergency generator, be approved.

CARRIED

Acting Mayor Thompson declared a short recess at 9:26 p.m. and reconvened the meeting at 9:29 p.m. with the same Council members and the following staff present:

N. Leemhuis, Chief Administrative Officer; M. Panneton, Director, Legislative Services/Corporate Officer; P. Cuk, Manager, Legislative Operations/Deputy Corporate Officer.

#### **10. Councillor's Motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency**

(File: 0120-06)

Councillor Cameron introduced the motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency.

MOVED by Cameron, seconded by Gambioli:

WHEREAS the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change has recommended emissions reduction targets of 45 per cent below 2010 levels by 2030 and 100 per cent below 2010 levels by 2050 in order to limit global warming to no more than 1.5 C above pre-industrial levels;

AND WHEREAS these emissions reduction targets are not being met at the national, provincial or local level in Canada and Canadians have some of the highest per capita emissions worldwide;

AND WHEREAS the most recent scientific evidence indicates that climate change is accelerating and increasing in severity and extent, including in Canada;

AND WHEREAS the impacts of climate change will be felt in all communities across Canada, including West Vancouver, if significant emission reductions are not made;

AND WHEREAS West Vancouver is already facing significant costs to deal with the impacts of climate change, including sea level rise, storm water management and forest fires;

AND WHEREAS a growing list of jurisdictions around the world have recently declared or officially acknowledged the existence of a global climate emergency;

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT:

- (1) Council recognizes that climate change constitutes an emergency for the District of West Vancouver; and
- (2) Staff be directed to report back within 90 days regarding:
  - i. actions the District is presently taking to reduce GHG emissions (corporate and community) and to meet the District's climate targets;
  - ii. actions the District is presently taking to adapt to climate change (corporate and community) and their costs;
  - iii. actions that comparable municipalities are taking to reduce their GHG emissions; and
  - iv. additional actions that the District could take in the short, medium and long term (corporate and community) to further reduce GHG emissions.

Council members commented. In order to provide a public input opportunity prior to Council comments, the mover and seconder, with the consent of Council, withdrew the motion.

At 9:43, it was:

MOVED by Cameron, seconded by Gambioli:

THAT the meeting be extended past 10 p.m. until the end of agenda business.

CARRIED

I. Beevor (address not provided) read a letter from G. Gibson (North Vancouver) in support of the Councillor's Motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency.

M. Rowan (West Vancouver) spoke in support of the Councillor's Motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency.

Councillor Lambur left the meeting at 9:45 p.m. and returned to the meeting at 9:48 p.m. Councillor Wong left the meeting at 9:48 p.m. and returned to the meeting at 9:54 p.m.

V. Forssman (Eagle Harbour Road) spoke in support of the Councillor's Motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency.

J. Millar (Dundarave) spoke in support of the Councillor's Motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency.

M. Keegan-Henry (Vancouver; and North Shore Organizer, Force of Nature) spoke in support of the Councillor's Motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency.

E. Finn (Boyer Island) spoke in support of the Councillor's Motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency.

L. Jones (address not provided) spoke in support of the Councillor's Motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency and queried whether a Council member had a conflict of interest. Staff provided a response.

E. McHarg (1140 Duchess Avenue) spoke in support of the Councillor's Motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency.

M. Rhodes (1140 Duchess Avenue) spoke in support of the Councillor's Motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency.

S. Rhodes (address not provided) spoke in support of the Councillor's Motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency.

D. Taylor (West Vancouver; and Green Party of Canada Candidate for West Vancouver-Sea to Sky-Sunshine Coast) spoke in support of the Councillor's

Motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency.

T. Reinsch (address not provided) commented regarding proposed amendments to Interim Tree Bylaw No. 4892, 2016, and queried regarding tree removal as part of property development. Council members commented.

M. Markwick (address not provided) displayed an image and spoke in support of the Councillor's Motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency.

A. Farris (24th Street and Kings Avenue) spoke in support of the Councillor's Motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency.

A. McManus (6400-block, Wellington Avenue) spoke in support of the Councillor's Motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency.

E. Kelsall (address not provided) spoke in support of the Councillor's Motion regarding Declaration of Climate Emergency and proposed an amendment.

L. Jones spoke for a second time and commented regarding the District of North Vancouver's recommendations regarding the declaration of a climate emergency.

MOVED by Cameron, seconded by Gambioli:

WHEREAS the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change has recommended emissions reduction targets of 45 per cent below 2010 levels by 2030 and 100 per cent below 2010 levels by 2050 in order to limit global warming to no more than 1.5 C above pre-industrial levels;

AND WHEREAS these emissions reduction targets are not being met at the national, provincial or local level in Canada and Canadians have some of the highest per capita emissions worldwide;

AND WHEREAS the most recent scientific evidence indicates that climate change is accelerating and increasing in severity and extent, including in Canada;

AND WHEREAS the impacts of climate change will be felt in all communities across Canada, including West Vancouver, if significant emission reductions are not made;

AND WHEREAS West Vancouver is already facing significant costs to deal with the impacts of climate change, including sea level rise, storm water management and forest fires;

AND WHEREAS a growing list of jurisdictions around the world have recently declared or officially acknowledged the existence of a global climate emergency;

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT:

- (1) Council recognizes that climate change constitutes an emergency for the District of West Vancouver; and
- (2) Staff be directed to report back within 90 days regarding:
  - i. actions the District is presently taking to reduce GHG emissions (corporate and community) and to meet the District's climate targets;



- ii. actions the District is presently taking to adapt to climate change (corporate and community) and their costs;
- iii. actions that comparable municipalities are taking to reduce their GHG emissions; and
- iv. additional actions that the District could take in the short, medium and long term (corporate and community) to further reduce GHG emissions.

A Councillor proposed an amendment to the main motion. Councillors Cameron and Gambioli, as the mover and seconder of the main motion, accepted the proposed amendment. As the proposed amendment was accepted by the mover and seconder, the proposed amendment was incorporated into the main motion as a friendly amendment and did not require a vote; the amended motion follows:

WHEREAS the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change has recommended emissions reduction targets of 45 per cent below 2010 levels by 2030 and 100 per cent below 2010 levels by 2050 in order to limit global warming to no more than 1.5 C above pre-industrial levels;

AND WHEREAS these emissions reduction targets are not being met at the national, provincial or local level in Canada and Canadians have some of the highest per capita emissions worldwide;

AND WHEREAS the most recent scientific evidence indicates that climate change is accelerating and increasing in severity and extent, including in Canada;

AND WHEREAS the impacts of climate change will continue to be felt in communities across Canada, including West Vancouver, and significant emission reductions are required to minimize these impacts;

AND WHEREAS West Vancouver is already facing significant costs to deal with the impacts of climate change, including sea level rise, storm water management and forest fires;

AND WHEREAS a growing list of jurisdictions around the world have recently declared or officially acknowledged the existence of a global climate emergency;

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT:

- (1) Council recognizes that climate change constitutes an emergency for the District of West Vancouver; and
- (2) Staff be directed to report back at the July 22, 2019, regular Council meeting regarding:
  - i. actions the District is presently taking to reduce GHG emissions (corporate and community) and performance metrics regarding emission targets;
  - ii. actions the District is presently taking to adapt to climate change; and
- (3) Staff be directed to report back within 90 days regarding:
  - i. actions that other municipalities are taking to reduce their GHG emissions; and

- ii. an approach to a comprehensive climate adaptation strategy that meets the present IPCC climate change target of 45 per cent below 2010 levels by 2030 and 100 per cent below 2010 levels by 2050.

Council members commented. The question was called on the amended motion.

CARRIED

## BYLAWS

11. **Proposed: Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 4985, 2018, Amendment Bylaw No. 5008, 2019; and Zoning Bylaw No. 4662, 2010, Amendment Bylaw No. 5009, 2019 (727 Keith Road, Amica Lions Gate)** (File: 1610-20-5008)

MOVED by Gambioli, seconded by Wong:

THAT proposed "Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 4985, 2018, Amendment Bylaw No. 5008, 2019" be read a second time.

Council members commented. The question was called on the motion.

CARRIED

MOVED by Gambioli, seconded by Wong:

THAT proposed "Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 4985, 2018, Amendment Bylaw No. 5008, 2019" be read a third time.

CARRIED

MOVED by Gambioli, seconded by Soprovich:

THAT proposed "Zoning Bylaw No. 4662, 2010, Amendment Bylaw No. 5009, 2019" be read a second time.

CARRIED

MOVED by Gambioli, seconded by Wong:

THAT proposed "Zoning Bylaw No. 4662, 2010, Amendment Bylaw No. 5009, 2019" be read a third time.

CARRIED

12. **Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw No. 5010, 2019 (727 Keith Road, Amica Lions Gate)** (File: 1610-20-5010)

MOVED by Wong, seconded by Cameron:

THAT proposed "Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw No. 5010, 2019" be read a second time.

CARRIED

MOVED by Wong, seconded by Cameron:

THAT proposed "Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw No. 5010, 2019" be read a third time.

CARRIED

## **NEW BUSINESS**

13. No items.

## **CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS**

### **14. Consent Agenda Items**

MOVED by Lambur, seconded by Cameron:

THAT the Consent Agenda items as follows be approved:

- Item 14.1 regarding Development Permit Areas for Wildfire Risk and Coastal Flooding Risk and Foreshore Protection;
- Item 14.2 regarding Proposed Amendment to 2019 Council Meeting Schedule; and
- Item 14.3 regarding Correspondence List.

CARRIED

#### **14.1. Development Permit Areas for Wildfire Risk and Coastal Flooding Risk and Foreshore Protection (File: 2517-07)**

THAT the report dated June 18, 2019, by the Community Planner be received for information.

#### **14.2. Proposed Amendment to 2019 Council Meeting Schedule (File: 0120-01)**

THAT the 2019 Council Meeting Schedule be amended to change the start time of the July 22, 2019, regular Council meeting to 5 p.m.

#### **14.3. Correspondence List (File: 0120-24)**

THAT the correspondence list be received for information.

Council Correspondence Update to June 14, 2019 (up to 8:30 a.m.)

Referred for Action

- (1) June 7, 2019, regarding “Group wants Vancouver to axe artificial turf fields after lab test confirms lead | CBC News” (Referred to Director of Parks, Culture & Community Services for consideration and response)
- (2) June 7, 2019, regarding “Spec and school tax letters” (Referred to Chief Administrative Officer for consideration and response)
- (3) June 10, 2019, regarding “Increase in annual payments” (Referred to Director of Human Resources for consideration and response)
- (4) June 10, 2019, regarding “Pay increase” (Referred to Director of Human Resources for consideration and response)

Referred for Action from Other Governments and Government Agencies

No items.

Received for Information

- (5) Committee and Board Meeting Minutes – Awards Committee meetings March 8, April 5, May 3, June 7, July 5, September 6, October 4 and 25, November 7, and December 6, 2018, and May 2, 2019; and Finance Committee meeting March 5, 2019
- (6) Undated, regarding June 10, 2019, Cool It Climate Champions Delegation (Previously received at the June 10, 2019, regular Council meeting)
- (7) Undated, regarding Lot 11B Hollyburn Ridge (Previously received at the June 10, 2019, regular Council meeting)
- (8) April 17, 2019, regarding “Fiscal sustainability review -- Chief Financial Officer's message -- archived”
- (9) April 28, 2019, regarding “Local Area Plan Terms of Reference -- Horseshoe Bay Village”
- (10) 2 submissions, April 29 and May 2, 2019, regarding District Proposal for 2195 Gordon Avenue
- (11) May 27, 2019, regarding “Staff Report on the Interim Bylaw Working Group's (IBWG) Final Recommendations” (Proposed Interim Tree Bylaw No. 4892, 2016, Amendment Bylaw No. 5023, 2019)
- (12) Wood WORKS! BC, June 1, 2019, regarding 2019 Community Recognition Awards Call for Nominations
- (13) 2 submissions, June 5 and 10, 2019, regarding Vehicles and Transit Options on the North Shore
- (14) 2 submissions, June 6 and 13, 2019, regarding Proposed Development at 2210-2216 Jefferson Avenue
- (15) 3 submissions, June 7 and 12, 2019, regarding Proposed Arts and Culture Facilities Plan
- (16) HUB Cycling, June 8, 2019, regarding “Prices rise tonight for Vancouver's biggest party on two wheels...” (Bike The Night September 7, 2019)
- (17) 4 submissions, June 9-13, 2019, regarding Wireless Technologies
- (18) 6 submissions, June 9 and 10, 2019, regarding Five Creeks Stormwater Flood Protection Project
- (19) June 10, 2019, regarding “Taylor Way and Marine Drive”
- (20) June 10, 2019, regarding “Grosvenor Building, Phase I”
- (21) June 12, 2019, regarding “This council should be determining what compensation the next council will receive, not making changes to their own compensation”
- (22) President of Strata VR1857, June 12, 2019, regarding Short Term Rentals at Seaside Place

Received for Information from Other Governments and Government Agencies

- (23) Metro Vancouver, June 10, 2019, regarding Metro 2040 Land Use Designation Amendment Request from the City of Delta

Responses to Correspondence

- (24) Director of Engineering & Transportation Services, June 7, 2019, response to Ambleside & Dundarave Ratepayers Association regarding "WV Library Parking on Marine Drive"
- (25) Director of Community Relations & Communications, June 7, 2019, response regarding "Thank you for the surveys!"
- (26) Acting Senior Manager of Community Services, June 10, 2019, response regarding "Fwd: community centre fence design"
- (27) Executive Assistant to the Mayor & Chief Administrative Officer, June 11, 2019, response regarding "Spec and school tax letters"

Council Correspondence Update to June 21, 2019 (up to 8:30 a.m.)

Referred for Action

- (1) June 17, 2019, regarding "Dangerous Roadway-Marine Drive and Dufferin" (Referred to Director of Engineering & Transportation Services for consideration and response)

Referred for Action from Other Governments and Government Agencies

No items.

Received for Information

- (2) June 10, 2019, regarding Workforce Accommodation
- (3) West Vancouver Dance Conservatory Association, June 11, 2019, regarding "The DANCE Conservatory, West Vancouver Year End Recital" (June 23, 2019)
- (4) Vancouver Coastal Health, June 12, 2019, regarding 2018 Annual Drinking Water Quality Report
- (5) 2 submissions, June 14 and 18, 2019, regarding Proposed Development at 2210-2216 Jefferson Avenue
- (6) 3 submissions, June 16-20, 2019, regarding Proposed Arts and Culture Facilities Plan
- (7) 2 submissions, June 16 and 18, 2019, regarding Council Remuneration
- (8) June 18, 2019, regarding "Development Proposal 4358 Ross Crescent" (Proposed Zoning Bylaw No. 4662, 2010, Amendment Bylaw No. 5028, 2019)
- (9) 3 submissions, June 18 and 19, 2019, regarding Five Creeks Stormwater Flood Protection Project
- (10) June 20, 2019, regarding "Neighbourhood Character" (Invasive Weed Removal)

Received for Information from Other Governments and Government Agencies

No items.

Responses to Correspondence

- (11) Director of Engineering & Transportation Services, June 18, 2019, response regarding “Dangerous Roadway-Marine Drive and Dufferin”.

### **OTHER ITEMS**

15. No items.

### **REPORTS FROM MAYOR AND COUNCILLORS**

#### **16. Reports from Mayor and Councillors**

Councillor Wong reported on attendance at a neighbourhood Block Watch party in Cedardale.

Councillor Gambioli reported on a Metro Vancouver Regional Planning Committee report regarding the positive health impacts of walkability and green spaces.

Councillor Cameron reported on: a North Shore News article regarding reconsideration of a tertiary level of treatment for the new North Shore Sewage Treatment Plant; and attendance at the funeral of Vancouver-based writer and broadcaster Alireza Ahmadian.

Acting Mayor Thompson reported on attendance at the viewing of the documentary “The Fit Generation”, which features West Vancouver resident and Fit Fellow Barry Chapman.

Councillor Soprovich reported that this year is the Coho Festival’s 40th anniversary.

MOVED by Wong, seconded by Cameron:

THAT the oral reports from the Mayor and Councillors be received for information.

CARRIED

### **PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS**

#### **17. Public Questions and Comments**

There were no questions or comments.

**ADJOURNMENT**

**18. Adjournment of July 8, 2019, Council Meeting**

MOVED by Soprovich, seconded by Wong:

THAT the July 8, 2019, Council meeting be adjourned.  
(11:08 p.m.)

CARRIED

Certified Correct:

*[Original signed by Mayor]*

---

MAYOR

*[Original signed by Corporate Officer]*

---

CORPORATE OFFICER